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[The case of South Australia v Lampard-Trevorrow opens up key questions about the 
capacity and willingness of the common law to adjudicate past acts of the state. This 
article considers the significance of the appeal decision by examining what distinguishes 
the case from past, unsuccessful claims and considers its implications for future claimants 
from the Stolen Generations. In addition, we consider what the case means in terms of 
the law’s acceptance of a practice of historical and evidential interpretation that is 
different from previous cases, and how this is particularly important regarding the issue 
of parental consent. We argue that the role and interpretation of consent have broad 
ramifications for law’s potential to adjudicate responsibility for historical harms. We also 
argue that the findings in relation to false imprisonment and fiduciary duty limit the 
potential of the Trevorrow cases. In particular, we examine, and lament, the Full Court’s 
more limited reading of false imprisonment in contrast to the trial judgment.] 
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I   I N T R O D U C T IO N 

The case of South Australia v Lampard-Trevorrow (‘Lampard-Trevorrow’)1 
opens up key questions about the capacity and willingness of the common law 
to adjudicate past acts of the state. In Lampard-Trevorrow, the Full Court of 
the Supreme Court of South Australia dismissed the State’s appeal against the 
decision of Gray J in Trevorrow v South Australia [No 5] (‘Trevorrow’),2 which 
awarded Bruce Trevorrow damages against the government for his removal 
from his family as an infant, making him the first member of the Stolen 
Generations to successfully claim.3 This article considers the significance of 
the appeal decision by examining what distinguishes the case from past, 
unsuccessful claims and considers too its implications for future claimants 
from the Stolen Generations. In addition, we consider what the case means in 
terms of the law’s acceptance of a practice of historical and evidential interpre-
tation that is different from previous cases and how this is particularly 
important regarding the issue of parental consent. We argue that the role and 
interpretation of consent have broad ramifications for law’s potential to 
adjudicate responsibility for historical harms suffered by members of the 
Stolen Generations. 

There has been significant criticism of the ways in which courts have in-
terpreted the operation of state power in relation to the Stolen Generations, 
with courts essentially distancing specific acts of state actors from the context 
of Stolen Generations policy.4 This practice has arisen in a number of ways in 

 
 1 (2010) 106 SASR 331. 
 2 (2007) 98 SASR 136. 
 3 Note, however, that in Lampard-Trevorrow the Full Court reversed two of the trial judge’s 

findings: first, it found there was no false imprisonment in the circumstances: (2010) 106 
SASR 331, 396 [307] (Doyle CJ, Duggan and White JJ); and second, it found that no fiduciary 
duty was owed to Bruce Trevorrow: at 401–3 [335]–[347]. 

 4 See, eg, Ann Genovese, ‘Metaphor of Redemption, Myths of State: Historical Accountability 
in Luhrmann’s Australia and Trevorrow v South Australia’ (2011) 20 Griffith Law Review 67, 
71; Pam O’Connor, ‘History on Trial: Cubillo and Gunner v The Commonwealth of Australia’ 
(2001) 26 Alternative Law Journal 27, 30. See also Chris Cunneen and Julia Grix, ‘The Limita-
tions of Litigation in Stolen Generations Cases’ (Research Discussion Paper No 15, Australian 
Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies, 2004); Robert van Krieken ‘Is As-
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the cases, through the courts’ evaluation of both legal and factual issues. 
Trevorrow and Lampard-Trevorrow (‘Trevorrow cases’) signify a break in the 
law’s seeming incapacity to adjudicate historical suffering. This break raises 
the possibility that the common law has now become a site available for the 
redress of historical injuries suffered by members of the Stolen Generations 
and gives rise to a number of important questions: How exceptional are the 
Trevorrow cases? To what degree does Lampard-Trevorrow open up hope for a 
new class of claimants? Is the common law now a significant site for the 
adjudication of these important, enduring harms? Here, we explore the 
implications of the case for the common law’s role in the future adjudication 
of historical harms. We argue that, in some ways, Lampard-Trevorrow opens 
doors for claimants, given the Full Court’s interpretation of the documentary 
record and its reading of the legislative framework under which Bruce 
Trevorrow was removed from his parents. In other ways, the case closes doors 
for claimants, first because of the Court’s unwillingness to find false impris-
onment or a breach of fiduciary duty arising from the facts, and second 
because, while the Court criticises the interpretation of parental consent in 
past cases, the success of the claim nevertheless relies on proof of the absence 
of consent. 

The purpose of this article is to explore the Trevorrow cases and offer some 
insight into the implications for the common law’s potential to adjudicate 
historical injuries. The article is divided into four substantive parts. Following 
the Introduction, Part II provides the context for the Trevorrow cases, 
including a summary of past cases, a description of the different statutory 
frameworks that were in issue, and consideration of the impact of these 
specificities on the outcomes in the Trevorrow cases. Part III provides a critical 
commentary on the appeal decision. Here, we consider the key findings of the 
appeal regarding liability for negligence and misfeasance in public office, the 
duty to accord procedural fairness, the discretion to grant an extension of 
time, and the tort of false imprisonment and breach of fiduciary duty. We 
argue that the findings in relation to false imprisonment and fiduciary duty 
limit the potential of the Trevorrow cases. In particular, we examine, and 
lament, the Full Court’s more limited reading of false imprisonment in 
contrast to the trial judgment. We argue that this cause of action is, first, a 
more fitting analogy for claims that arise out of the circumstances of the 
Stolen Generations in comparison to other categories. Second, it is a category 
that would allow the law to adjudicate a wider range of claims, and so allow 

 
similation Justiciable? Lorna Cubillo & Peter Gunner v Commonwealth’ (2001) 23 Sydney Law 
Review 239. 
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the law a greater role in the adjudication of responsibility for historical 
injuries, since the evidentiary burden that make these claims so difficult for 
claimants in this area is reversed in the case of false imprisonment. We also 
critique the failure of the Full Court to find that there was a fiduciary duty on 
the part of the State, due to an overly strict interpretation of the scope of 
fiduciary duties. Part IV examines what we consider to be the key interven-
tions of the Trevorrow cases in the history of the common law’s adjudication 
of claims relating to the Stolen Generations. In this respect, the Court, at trial 
and on appeal, demonstrates a willingness to examine evidence critically and 
contextually (including a critical examination of standards in operation at the 
time the policies were administered) and a willingness to decide questions of 
responsibility regarding past acts of the state. Both these practices of interpre-
tation signify a break from previous litigation in this area and augur some 
potential for an expansion of the common law’s role in the future. Finally,  
Part V examines what we consider to be one of the main limitations of the 
adjudication of these historical injuries at common law, namely the presence 
of problematic ‘myths’ concerning parental consent, which not only deter-
mine the nature of ‘good’ and ‘bad’ litigants, but which also reinforce false and 
harmful narratives about the operation of power. As a result of Stolen Genera-
tions policy, and the courts’ interpretation of the statutory regimes that gave 
effect to this policy, consent has become a ‘myth of the state’, one of the 
‘stories that … normalised state intervention yet at the same time ignored the 
subjectivity and experience of Indigenous peoples altogether.’5 

We conclude that there may be some capacity for the common law to re-
dress historical harms, especially if courts in the future adopt the practices of 
interpretation from the Trevorrow cases regarding the significance of past 
policy and evidence. However, this potential needs to be balanced against the 
weight of precedent, where the law has distanced itself from the role of 
adjudicating historical wrongs of the state. In some ways, the key issue now 
concerns the willingness of the common law to adjudicate historical suffering, 
and how these possibilities are constrained by precedent. These points 
naturally raise the normative question of whether the law should become a 
dominant site for the adjudication of historical injuries — the injuries of 
colonisation. A number of people have commented on this question, one 
concluding that ‘[l]itigation is a poor forum for judging the big picture of 
history.’6 The Report of the National Inquiry into the Separation of Aboriginal 

 
 5 Genovese, above n 4, 74. 
 6 O’Connor, above n 4, 30. See also Cunneen and Grix, above n 4; van Krieken, above n 4. 
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and Torres Strait Islander Children from Their Families, Bringing Them Home, 
recommended that a reparations scheme be adopted to deal with compensa-
tion arising from harms suffered by the Stolen Generations.7 The advantage of 
the reparations approach is that it could respond not only by providing 
compensation that avoids the limitations and vagaries of litigation, thus 
administering a fairer form of redress and saving survivors from unnecessary 
further trauma, but also by including apologies, acknowledgements and 
guarantees that such policies will never be repeated8 — discursive responses 
that matter. Such a solution could also redress the problematic myths and 
narratives that are part of common law history regarding the Stolen Genera-
tions cases, including the narrative concerning parental consent. A repara-
tions scheme would provide the opportunity for a freer narrative response to 
the harms, providing for compensation in conjunction with statements that 
acknowledge the harms of history, as well as the historical and contemporary 
complicity of law and society, without relying on the problematic myths that 
are still part of common law adjudication. 

II   T H E  CO N T E X T  O F  LA M PA R D -TR E V O R R OW  I N  RE L AT IO N  T O  

P R E V I O U S  ST O L E N  G E N E R AT I O N S  LI T I G AT IO N 

In many ways, Gray J’s judgment in Trevorrow (and the appeal that followed 
it) signified a ‘markedly different … approach and outcome to what came 
before it’.9 At the same time, as Antonio Buti has pointed out, the distinctive 
nature of the factual and legal basis of the decision, including that it was based 
on an ‘ideal plaintiff ’, may limit its potential.10 In this section, we briefly 
summarise the facts of the case, and compare them to earlier Stolen Genera-
tions litigation, as well as the relevant statutory frameworks considered in 
each case. The motivating questions of this section are: to what extent are the 
factual circumstances and statutory framework of Trevorrow exceptional? To 
what extent is the favourable outcome due to the case’s specificities, as 
opposed to changes in the common law’s approach to questions of law, fact 

 
 7 Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission, Bringing Them Home: Report of the 

National Inquiry into the Separation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Children from 
Their Families (1997) 308–9 (‘Bringing Them Home Report’). See also Andrea Durbach, ‘Re-
pairing the Damage: Achieving Reparations for the Stolen Generations’ (2002) 27 Alternative 
Law Journal 262. 

 8 Bringing Them Home Report, above n 7, 282. 
 9 Antonio Buti, ‘The Stolen Generations and Litigation Revisited’ (2008) 32 Melbourne 

University Law Review 382, 383. 
 10 Ibid 420. 
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and policy, to questions of responsibility for past actions, and acts of the state? 
And of particular pertinence to our organising question, what does this mean 
for the future capacity of the common law to redress these historical injuries? 

In Kruger v Commonwealth (‘Kruger’),11 nine Aboriginal claimants argued 
the constitutional invalidity of the Aboriginals Ordinance 1918 (NT), which 
purportedly authorised the removal of Aboriginal and ‘half-caste’ children, 
and also argued that this cause of action gave rise to damages for breach of 
express and implied constitutional rights.12 The majority of the High Court 
held that the Ordinance did not contravene s 116 of the Constitution (freedom 
of religion),13 was valid under s 122 of the Constitution14 and did not breach 
any implied right to freedom of movement and association15 or equality.16 The 
High Court rejected claims that the Ordinance was enacted for the purposes 
of genocide, finding instead that the actions it authorised were to be per-
formed in the best interests of the Aboriginal people concerned, rather than 
with an intent to destroy their racial group, in whole or in part.17 Further, the 
Ordinance did not violate any novel implied constitutional guarantees or 
prohibitions,18 and, regardless, breach of a constitutional right did not give 
rise to a novel cause of action in damages outside contract or tort.19 A 
majority did not consider whether the Constitution would allow genocidal 

 
 11 (1997) 190 CLR 1. 
 12 Aboriginals Ordinance 1918 (NT) s 6 gave power to the Chief Protector (and under regula-

tions made pursuant to s 67, all Protectors) to undertake the care, custody or control of 
Aboriginal people where it was in their best interests. Section 7 made the Chief Protector the 
legal guardian of every Aboriginal person and every ‘half-caste’ child. Section 16 gave powers 
to the Chief Protector to remove any Aboriginal or ‘half-caste’ to an institution or Aboriginal 
reserve. 

 13 Kruger (1997) 190 CLR 1, 40 (Brennan CJ), 60–1 (Dawson J), 85–6 (Toohey J), 166–7 
(Gummow J); cf at 134 (Gaudron J). 

 14 Ibid 41 (Brennan CJ), 53 (Dawson J), 79 (Toohey J), 104 (Gaudron J), 141 (McHugh J), 167 
(Gummow J). 

 15 Ibid 45 (Brennan CJ), 70 (Dawson J), 142 (McHugh J), 157 (Gummow J); contra at 121, 126, 
129–30 (Gaudron J); cf at 93 (Toohey J). 

 16 Ibid 44–5 (Brennan CJ), 68 (Dawson J), 114 (Gaudron J), 142 (McHugh J), 155 (Gummow J); 
cf at 97 (Toohey J). 

 17 Ibid 70–1 (Dawson J), 88 (Toohey J), 107 (Gaudron J), 144 (McHugh J), 159 (Gummow J). 
 18 See above nn 15–16. 
 19 Ibid 46 (Brennan CJ), 93 (Toohey J), 125–6 (Gaudron J). Justices Dawson, McHugh and 

Gummow did not decide the point. 
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legislation to be enacted, leaving this question open for future litigation.20 The 
decision also left open the possibility for damages to be awarded for the 
misuse of powers under the Ordinance,21 the Court emphasising that such 
misuse must be judged by the standards of the time and not by contemporary 
standards.22 

This possibility was taken up by the applicants in Cubillo v Commonwealth 
[No 2] (‘Cubillo (Trial)’).23 Here, the Federal Court considered the same 
legislation as in Kruger. The applicants were Lorna Cubillo and Peter Gunner. 
Lorna Cubillo was born in 1938. At the age of nine she was forcibly removed 
by the Aborigines Inland Mission and the Native Affairs Branch to the Retta 
Dixon Home in Darwin, where she remained until she was 18 years old.24 
Peter Gunner was born in 1948 on a pastoral station and was removed in 1956 
when he was about seven years old to St Mary’s Church of England Hostel in 
Alice Springs. He remained there until he was 16 years of age.25 Before Peter 
Gunner was removed, the trial judge described him as being part of ‘a happy, 
healthy Aboriginal community and environment’ at Utopia Station.26 The 
applicants claimed that, in their removal, the Commonwealth (through its 
agent, the Director of Native Affairs, by virtue of the doctrine of vicarious 
liability) committed the torts of negligence, false imprisonment and breach of 
statutory duty, and also breached its fiduciary duties. The Federal Court 
rejected the Commonwealth’s strike-out application,27 but decided against the 
plaintiffs on the merits of the case.28 Among other findings, O’Loughlin J held 
there was insufficient evidence of a policy or practice of indiscriminate 
removal,29 and no genocidal intent in either the legislation or its implementa-
tion by the Director of Native Affairs and others.30 The Full Court of the 

 
 20 But see ibid 107, where Gaudron J suggested that the grant of legislative power in s 122 of the 

Constitution did not ‘extend to laws authorising gross violations of human rights and dignity 
contrary to the established principles of the common law.’ 

 21 Ibid 36 (Brennan CJ). 
 22 Ibid 36–7 (Brennan CJ), 52–3 (Dawson J). 
 23  (2000) 103 FCR 1. A number of aspects favourable to the applicants were reversed on appeal, 

but all adverse findings were affirmed: Cubillo v Commonwealth (2001) 112 FCR 455 (‘Cubillo 
(Appeal)’). 

 24 Cubillo (Trial) (2002) 103 FCR 1, 13–14 [6]–[10] (O’Loughlin J). 
 25 See generally ibid 14 [12]–[13]. 
 26 Ibid 239 [769]. 
 27 Cubillo v Commonwealth (1999) 89 FCR 528, 598–9 [203] (O’Loughlin J). 
 28 Cubillo (Trial) (2000) 103 FCR 1, 483 [1563] (O’Loughlin J). 
 29 Ibid 103–8 [301]–[321]; 358 [1159]–[1160]. 
 30 Ibid 483 [1561]. 
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Federal Court dismissed the appeal,31 and the plaintiffs were denied leave to 
appeal to the High Court.32 

In Williams v Minister, Aboriginal Land Rights Act 1983 (‘Williams (Tri-
al)’)33 Joy Williams was removed immediately after her mother had given 
birth to her and stayed in children’s homes until she was 18 years old. She was 
removed under s 7(2) of the Aborigines Protection Act 1909 (NSW), which 
gave the Aborigines Welfare Board (‘AWB’) the power to take a child under 
circumstances where the mother consented. Williams claimed that the 
removal caused her physical and psychological harm and she brought a 
number of claims, including breach of common law duty of care, breach of 
statutory duty, breach of fiduciary duty and false imprisonment.34 The trial 
and appeal judgments of the Supreme Court of New South Wales found that 
Williams’ removal was lawful given that her mother had given consent; the 
removal was in accordance with the AWB’s statutory duty; the removal was 
for the purpose of improving the prospects of Williams;35 and no common 
law duty of care arose because this would ‘cut across the whole statutory 
system for the protection of Aboriginal children’, opening the gates of litiga-
tion too widely.36 

Questions of consent and negligence were examined again in the Tre-
vorrow cases, with very different outcomes. On 25 December 1957, 13-month-
old Bruce Trevorrow was taken to the Children’s Hospital in Adelaide, 
suffering from a stomach complaint. Upon his discharge, and without the 
knowledge or consent of his parents, the Aborigines Protection Board (‘APB’) 
placed him with a foster family. For the following 10 years, he stayed with this 
family, during which time his mother unsuccessfully requested his return. In 
1967, he returned to live with her, however, within one year he was placed in a 
boy’s home, where he periodically remained until he turned 18.37 Trevorrow 
claimed that this separation from his natural family and the manner in which 
he was returned to his mother contributed to mental and physical health 

 
 31 Cubillo (Appeal) (2001) 112 FCR 455, 579 [473] (Sackville, Weinberg and Hely JJ). 
 32 Transcript of Proceedings, Cubillo v Commonwealth (High Court of Australia, D10/2011 

Gleeson CJ and McHugh J, 3 May 2002). 
 33 (1999) 25 Fam LR 86. 
 34 Ibid 87–90 [6]–[23] (Abadee J). 
 35 Ibid 92 [32], affd Williams v Minister Aboriginal Land Rights Act 1983 [2000] Aust Torts 

Reports ¶81-578, 64 147–8 [58] (Heydon JA) (‘Williams (Appeal)’). 
 36 Williams (Trial) (1999) 25 Fam LR 86, 249 [775] (Abadee J); Williams (Appeal) [2000] Aust 

Torts Reports ¶81-578, 64 176 [160] (Heydon JA). 
 37 Trevorrow (2007) SASR 136, 171–201 [92]–[259] (Gray J). 
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problems and a loss of cultural identity that continued throughout his adult 
life. He brought his case against the State of South Australia on the grounds of 
misfeasance in public office, negligence, false imprisonment and breach of 
fiduciary duties, causes of action in respect of which the State denied any 
liability.38 Trevorrow also sought relief through damages and declarations.39 At 
trial, Gray J awarded $525 000 in damages. Of this amount, $75 000 was 
awarded as exemplary damages in respect of misfeasance in public office and 
false imprisonment, the State having acted ultra vires, cognisant of the 
unlawfulness of Trevorrow’s removal from his parents.40 

The trial judgment includes a detailed overview of the statutory framework 
applicable to Bruce Trevorrow’s removal.41 Justice Gray found that the 
legislative scheme applicable, covering moments of the plaintiff ’s removal, 
placement and return, comprised the Aborigines Act 1934–1939 (SA), the 
Maintenance Act 1926–1937 (SA) and the Children’s Protection Act 1936 (SA). 
Central to the framework was s 10 of the Aborigines Act, which provided that 
the APB was the legal guardian of every Aboriginal child, notwithstanding 
that any such child had a living parent or other relative. The duties arising out 
of s 10 were set out in s 7. Justice Gray explained the key question as follows: 

The question for determination in these proceedings is not whether such a pol-
icy [of removing Aboriginal children from their families] existed, nor whether 
such a policy was lawful. … [It is whether] the State was bound to act in ac-
cordance with the terms of the relevant legislative scheme and in accordance 
with its fiduciary and other duties owed to the plaintiff and that, in breach of 
those requirements, it failed to do so.42 

Accordingly, the organising legal question in Trevorrow differed from 
those questions considered in earlier Stolen Generations litigation, as it did 
not raise questions about the existence or lawfulness of a wider policy — the 
relevant question was much more limited, ‘more precise’.43 One of the central 
issues was the nature of powers and duties that arose from the phrase ‘legal 
guardian’ — whether, as the State contended, the APB’s role and responsibility 
as legal guardian of every child pursuant to s 10 of the Aborigines Act meant 

 
 38 Ibid 335–6 [964]. 
 39 Ibid 374 [1141]. 
 40 Ibid 393 [1239]. 
 41 See ibid 216–49 [331]–[492]. 
 42 Ibid 239 [431]. 
 43 Genovese, above n 4, 82. 
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that the APB was empowered to take any steps necessary to execute its duties, 
including the unrestricted power to remove an Aboriginal child from their 
parents.44 Justice Gray found that s 10 did not abrogate common law rights of 
parents, given the absence of the manifestation in express words by Parlia-
ment of a clear intention to do so.45 Following an analysis of the purpose of 
the legislation, Gray J concluded that s 10 did not give the APB the power to 
foster an Aboriginal child without the consent of the child’s parents.46 Buti 
argues that the Court 

was imputed with the task of assessing the specific South Australian legislative 
scheme in relation to child removal and determining whether government  
departments and entities complied with this scheme in their removal of the 
plaintiff.47 

The significance of the specific legislative framework to the outcome leads 
Buti to argue that the decision may not have much impact beyond Bruce 
Trevorrow’s individual circumstances.48 

Another significant distinction is the different characterisation of vicarious 
liability in Trevorrow from earlier cases. A threshold question in Lampard-
Trevorrow and Cubillo (Appeal) was whether the State and Commonwealth 
respectively could be held liable for the acts of their officials. In terms of 
vicarious liability, in Cubillo (Appeal), the Court approved trial judge 
O’Loughlin J’s invocation of the ‘independent discretion rule’ to prohibit 
imputing legal liability to the Commonwealth or the responsible Minister for 
breaches of guardianship duties by the Chief Protector of Aborigines.49 The 
Commonwealth was accordingly held not to be vicariously responsible and 
therefore not liable for the acts of its employees, who exercised independent 
discretion in fulfilling their public duties.50 This approach to examining the 
liability of the Crown by reinforcing the ‘protected position of governments’ 
in litigation has been subject to criticism.51 

 
 44 Trevorrow (2007) SASR 136, 239 [433] (Gray J). 
 45 Ibid 244 [455]–[457]. 
 46 Ibid 248 [483]. 
 47 Buti, above n 9, 413. 
 48 Ibid. 
 49 Cubillo (Appeal) (2001) 112 FCR 455, 529–31 [288]–[292] (Sackville, Weinberg and Hely JJ). 
 50 Ibid 531 [294]. 
 51 See, eg, Paul Finn and Kathryn Jane Smith, ‘The Citizen, the Government and “Reasonable 

Expectations”’ (1992) 66 Australian Law Journal 139, 145. See also van Krieken, above  
n 4, 244. 
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In contrast, in Trevorrow, although the ‘independent discretion rule’ had 
been abrogated by statute, it has been noted that the tone of Gray J’s judgment 
would nonetheless indicate a strong judicial reluctance to countenance the 
State evading liability through the application of this rule.52 Justice Gray 
accordingly found that the State was liable for the conduct of the APB or its 
Secretary.53 Similarly, in Lampard-Trevorrow, the Court found the APB to be 
an emanation of the State because it ‘acted for the benefit of the public and of 
the State’.54 As the body that facilitated and funded the removal of Aboriginal 
children, the State was responsible for the acts of its officials in removing 
Trevorrow from his family. The Full Court accordingly upheld Gray J’s finding 
that the State is vicariously liable for the Secretary or APB’s tort of misfeasance 
in public office.55 

Furthermore, the evidence available worked in Bruce Trevorrow’s favour: 
legislation, as well as medical and departmental records, supported his claims 
of breach, and that there were limits to the State’s power.56 At trial, Gray J 
made a number of findings based on the oral evidence of Trevorrow’s siblings 
and half-siblings and the State’s own medical and departmental records.57 In 
contrast, much of the written record was missing by the time of the trials of 
Cubillo and Williams.58 However, as Buti points out, it is not as though the 
plaintiffs in Cubillo and Williams did not have oral and documentary evidence 
to support their claims — rather, ‘the courts simply found the evidence 
presented by the state to be more persuasive’.59 

While it is true that there was a greater volume of evidence available for 
the Court to consider in Trevorrow, including a significant state archive, 
Trevorrow represents a change in judicial practices of interpreting historical 
evidence, as well as the ways in which this evidence is to be used in determin-
ing the various causes of action that arise. As we discuss below, these issues of 
law and interpretation of historical record are intimately linked, and these 

 
 52 Buti, above n 9, 397. 
 53 Trevorrow (2007) 98 SASR 136, 257 [525]. 
 54 Lampard-Trevorrow (2010) 106 SASR 331, 390 [275] (Doyle CJ, Duggan and White JJ). 
 55 Ibid. 
 56 See Trevorrow (2007) 98 SASR 136, 216–39 [331]–[431] (legislation), 208 [292]–[295] 

(medical records), 336 [968]–[970] (departmental records). See also Buti, above n 9, 416. 
 57 See Trevorrow (2007) 98 SASR 136, 304 [826]; Buti, above n 9, 406. 
 58 Cubillo (Trial) (2000) 103 FCR 1, 148 [442] (O’Loughlin J); Williams v Minister, Aboriginal 

Land Rights Act 1983 (1994) 35 NSWLR 497, 506–7 (Kirby P). See also Cunneen and Grix, 
above n 4, 27. 

 59 Buti, above n 9, 416. 
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changes imply that Trevorrow has significance beyond its factual and legal 
specificities. First and most significantly, the Court had a different approach to 
the historical record. Second, the Court took a different approach to the legal 
categories involved in the claim as compared to earlier claims, interpreting 
them in the context of historical injuries arising out of the Stolen Generations. 
Third, the Court took a different, and critical, approach to the contemporary 
standards in place at the time of the implementation of the policy, in contrast 
to earlier cases; it also found that present standards were relevant in evaluat-
ing certain aspects of the case. We would argue that the case’s innovations 
cannot be limited to its particular legal–factual matrix, primarily because they 
introduce methods of interpretation that open up new relationships between 
the law on one hand, and responsibility and the historical record on the other. 
In the following section, we examine each of the elements of the appeal, 
comparing it to the trial judgment and previous litigation in relation to the 
Stolen Generations. For each element, we pay particular attention to the 
interpretation of the historical record, the role of consent and the significance 
of the statutory regimes at issue. 

III   I S S U E S  O N  AP P E A L 

A  The State’s Liability for Misfeasance 

Trevorrow was the first case in which a Stolen Generations litigant argued the 
tort of misfeasance in public office.60 The Full Court in Lampard-Trevorrow 
was required to re-examine whether the State was liable for this tort in respect 
of Trevorrow’s removal. The authorities of Northern Territory v Mengel 61 and 
Sanders v Snell 62 define this tort to include acts by a public officer that he or 
she knows to be beyond his or her power and involve a foreseeable risk of 
harm.63 For the purposes of the tort of misfeasance in public office, the APB 
and its Secretary were both found to be such officers exercising public powers 
pursuant to the public interest.64 The APB had also been advised by the 
Crown Solicitor of the limits of its legal authority to remove Aboriginal 

 
 60 Ibid 400. 
 61 (1995) 185 CLR 307, 347 (Mason CJ, Dawson, Toohey, Gaudron and McHugh JJ). 
 62 (1998) 196 CLR 329, 345 [38] (Gleeson CJ, Gaudron, Kirby and Hayne JJ). 
 63 Trevorrow (2007) 98 SASR 136, 338 [977], affd Lampard-Trevorrow (2010) 106 SASR 331,  
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children from their parents. In promoting its policy of removal, the APB was 
therefore found to have been generally cognisant that it was acting ultra vires. 
The Court accordingly found that the APB knew that it had no authority to 
remove Trevorrow without the necessary parental consent.65 

B  False Imprisonment 

False imprisonment is committed when someone ‘directly subjects another to 
total deprivation of freedom of movement without lawful justification’.66 It is a 
powerful avenue for Stolen Generations litigants because it does not depend 
on the government acting negligently or breaching a statute. Rather, it arises 
because the plaintiff has had his or her liberty restricted. The potential for a 
successful claim in false imprisonment was demonstrated in the trial judg-
ment of Cubillo, where the Court found that Lorna Cubillo had a prima facie 
case against the Director of Native Affairs for false imprisonment. However, 
the claim failed because the Commonwealth was held not to be vicariously 
liable for the Director’s actions.67 Again in the trial judgment of Trevorrow, 
false imprisonment was made out based on a reading of the common law 
requirements in UK jurisprudence.68 

However, the Full Court of the South Australian Supreme Court in Lam-
pard-Trevorrow overturned this finding through a narrow reading of ‘impris-
onment’, in a way that was anomalous to the contextual approach it took to 
other aspects of its reasoning. To begin with, the Court held that, based on the 
cases of Meering v Grahame-White Aviation Co Ltd 69 and Murray v Ministry 
of Defence70 it was not necessary to establish the detainee’s awareness of his or 
her detention, nor his or her physical capacity to exercise freedom of move-
ment.71 To determine whether Trevorrow had been subjected to false impris-
onment, the Court asked whether he was subject to a total deprivation of 
freedom of movement in the absence of lawful authority. The Court reasoned 

 
 65 Trevorrow (2007) 98 SASR 135, 338 [978] (Gray J), affd Lampard-Trevorrow (2010) 106 SASR 
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that the element of total restraint was not made out in the present case, as any 
restraint during Trevorrow’s placement with the foster family was attributable 
to his young age and the family’s ensuing obligation to care for him. While in 
foster care, Trevorrow experienced freedom of movement equal to that of 
other children of a like age, subject only to normal restrictions placed on 
children.72 The Court accordingly reversed Gray J’s finding of liability for 
wrongful detention. 

The Court found that the care and protection given by the carer of a child 
is not a deprivation of the child’s liberty. The Full Court reasoned that Bruce 
Trevorrow ‘was able to move about (once he reached a certain age) as he 
wished, subject only to the normal limits placed on children’ and was ‘not 
imprisoned within a defined area’ by his foster parents beyond the normal 
control of parents.73 The Bench stated: 

It might be added that if this is a case of total restraint or total deprivation of 
freedom of movement, then all small children are, as a matter of fact, equally 
subject to the same restraint. … Bruce Trevorrow, when fostered by Mrs Da-
vies, had the same freedom of movement, or absence of freedom as the case 
may be, as other children of a like age.74 

However, this is a very narrow and artificial reading of freedom of move-
ment — one in which the Court is not comparing like circumstances with 
like. The issue should not have been whether, once handed over to the foster 
parents, those parents restrained Bruce Trevorrow in a way that was unusual 
for a small child to be restrained. After all, a kidnapper could also set a child 
up in a house and treat them as any other child might be kept, but this does 
not take away from the fact that there has been an initial act of kidnapping, 
and a continuing act of restraint — it is the characterisation of the act of 
removal, and not the quality of after-care, which should matter to a legal 
interpretation. Rather, the issue should have been whether the removal itself 
could be interpreted as an act of restraint. The Court did not appreciate that 
non-Aboriginal children of Bruce Trevorrow’s age would have had the 
freedom to be with their parents. The Court drew unfitting analogies with 
restraint in childcare centres, stating that ‘[m]ost childcare centres have 
substantial fences and a gate that children cannot open’.75 In this acontextual 

 
 72 Ibid 392 [285]. 
 73 Ibid 391–2 [284]. 
 74 Ibid 392 [285]. 
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reading, the Court was not addressing the liberty denied to Bruce Trevorrow 
to be with his parents due to the policy of Aboriginal child removal. In other 
words, an Aboriginal child’s forcible restraint from his or her parents and 
against his or her parents’ wishes was regarded as the same as a non-
Aboriginal child who lived with his or her parents and was not subject to the 
Stolen Generations policy. As discussed below, the Court in Lampard-
Trevorrow explicitly acknowledged the problems with consent and this had 
legal effect. However, the Court stopped short of recognising that non-
consent to removal might be a form of restraint on the child, that is, a 
restraint from being with his or her parents. 

C  Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

The Court further considered whether the APB’s failure to inform Trevorrow 
of the unlawfulness of his removal and provide him with access to legal advice 
constituted a breach of fiduciary duty. In previous Stolen Generations cases, 
arguments contending breaches of fiduciary duty had largely not been 
successful. In Williams (Trial), Abadee J denied a fiduciary claim similar to 
that in Lampard-Trevorrow, reasoning that the protection of non-economic 
interests, such as duties of guardianship, could not be warranted under 
Australian fiduciary law.76 In contrast to Williams, Gray J in Trevorrow 
imposed fiduciary duties, which encompassed an obligation to inform 
Trevorrow of the circumstances of his removal and facilitate access to legal 
advice regarding the State’s conduct.77 

However, the Court in Lampard-Trevorrow closed the door opened in 
Trevorrow by a narrow reading of fiduciary obligations. It agreed with the trial 
judge that the APB was Trevorrow’s legal guardian and Trevorrow was its 
ward, as provided for under s 10 of the Aborigines Act 1934 (SA) (‘1934 Act’), 
and that this relationship might lead to fiduciary obligations on the part of the 
APB.78 But it held that the APB’s relationship ‘with Aboriginal children 
generally’ did not give rise to a ‘wide-reaching fiduciary duty’.79 This would 
result in a duty being ‘owed to all Aboriginal children’ fostered by the APB, 
which would be inconsistent with the provisions of the 1934 Act.80 The Court 

 
 76 Williams (Trial) (1999) 25 Fam LR 86, 239–40 [734]. 
 77 (2007) 98 SASR 136, 346 [1006]. 
 78 Lampard-Trevorrow (2010) 106 SASR 331, 399 [327] (Doyle CJ, Duggan and White JJ). 
 79 Ibid 401 [333]. 
 80 Ibid 401 [337]. 
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was persuaded by Brennan CJ’s observation in Breen v Williams that ‘it is 
erroneous to regard the duty owed by a fiduciary to his beneficiary as attach-
ing to every aspect of the fiduciary’s conduct’.81 The Court enunciated policy-
based reasons for excluding a broad duty — that the APB was funded by 
parliamentary appropriation and ‘could do only what its resources permit-
ted.’82 Further, a wideranging duty was inconsistent with the purpose of the 
1934 Act and ‘would transform its role, in a manner not contemplated by the 
1934 Act.’83 The APB might be subject to a fiduciary duty to Trevorrow, but 
only where the ‘particular situation was one that attracted one of the recog-
nised fiduciary duties’ and where this was consistent with the 1934 Act.84 

Finding that not all circumstances arising from the relationship between 
the APB and Trevorrow ‘are to be resolved in terms of a fiduciary duty’,85 the 
Court failed to deal effectively with any aspect of the relationship as one of 
fiduciary duty. The Court referred to Gaudron and McHugh JJ’s point in  
Breen v Williams that a doctor does not have a fiduciary obligation to inform a 
patient of the doctor’s negligence or breach of contract.86 But again, this was a 
false comparison — in making this analogy, the Court ignored the distin-
guishing facts that Trevorrow was a minor and confined in state care without 
the resources or capacities to remove himself or even to be meaningfully 
aware of the legalities of his plight. The relationship he had with those who 
cared for him is not at all comparable to that between an adult patient and his 
or her doctor. The Court finally reasoned that imposing a fiduciary duty could 
have resulted in the ‘oddity’ that the APB would have discharged its duty by 
informing the plaintiff that it had acted unlawfully, and by assisting him to 
obtain legal advice, and then sitting back and leaving him in custody.87 But 
this circuitous logic suggests that a fiduciary duty cannot arise because of the 
removal and that the removal is lawful because there is no duty. It would be 
akin to allowing a police officer to refuse a defendant the right to legal advice 
in relation to his or her custody, simply because his or her custody is at the 
hands of the police. In the same vein, the obligation to provide such advice to 
a removed child who would be detained for a decade would not appear to be 

 
 81 (1996) 186 CLR 71, 82. 
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an onerous burden. The Court, however, found that, in respect of failing to 
advise Trevorrow of the wrongfulness of his removal and provide him with 
legal advice, the State was not in breach of any fiduciary duties.88 

D  Negligence 

The Full Court further examined whether the APB owed Bruce Trevorrow a 
duty of care to avoid causing him psychiatric injury, and whether this duty 
was breached when it placed Trevorrow with a foster family, failed to ade-
quately supervise this process and in due course returned him to his mother 
without due preparation.89 

In Williams (Appeal), policy reasons, principally concerns regarding flood-
gate litigation, militated against the imposition of a duty of care in such 
institution–child relationships.90 The Court was particularly attuned to 
possible economic consequences that may result from a decision that ren-
dered the government liable for acts committed against stolen generation 
litigants. However, in Trevorrow, Gray J rejected the argument that recognis-
ing a duty of care would expose the State to indeterminate liability.91 This 
analysis substantially deviates from the rather guarded reasoning in Williams 
(Trial) and Cubillo (Trial).92 Applying the salient features test, Gray J found 
that the State owed Trevorrow a duty of care in relation to his removal, 
placement with a foster family and return to his natural mother, a duty that 
was breached.93 Similarly, in Lampard-Trevorrow, the Court was also prepared 
to find against the State in negligence.94 Following the underlying principle 
identified by McHugh J in Crimmins v Stevedoring Industry Finance Commit-
tee that ‘[n]o common law duty of care can be imposed on the statutory 
authority if to do so is … forbidden by the relevant Act’,95 their Honours first 
considered whether the imposition of a common law duty of care to avoid 
causing harm to Trevorrow was inconsistent with the 1934 Act. The Court 
concluded that the imposition of such a duty would not be inconsistent with 

 
 88 Ibid 403 [347]. 
 89 Ibid 405 [362]. 
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the obligations under this statutory scheme, as both duty and scheme promote 
the protection and welfare of Aborigines and Aboriginal children.96 Section 10 
of the 1934 Act requires the APB to act in the best interests of Aboriginal 
children, reflecting the APB’s role as the ‘legal guardian’ of these children.97 
This obligation does not impose duties that are contrary to the postulated 
common law duty to avoid causing Trevorrow foreseeable harm. The Full 
Court noted that ‘[t]o require that reasonable care be taken to avoid injury to 
the child … is not opposed to or inconsistent with the statutory requirement. 
It complements it.’98 

Second, the Court considered whether the harm caused to Trevorrow was 
reasonably foreseeable.99 The Court relied on the evidence adduced at trial, 
based on medical opinion, the oral evidence of welfare officers and a substan-
tial body of literature, including publications available during the period of 
the plaintiff ’s removal. This evidence confirmed the risk of harm to a child 
deprived of maternal care and affection available during the 1950s and 
1960s.100 Their Honours concluded that as contemporaneous research 
indicated that this process may be detrimental to a child’s wellbeing, the APB 
knew of the risk of separating a mother and child and that they should have 
informed their staff of this.101 Although welfare officers at the time may not 
have foreseen the specific harm caused by Trevorrow’s removal, they pos-
sessed a general understanding that failure to maintain contact with Tre-
vorrow’s natural family might cause him harm.102 The Court concluded that a 
reasonable person would have examined the likelihood of such harm occur-
ring and would have removed Trevorrow from his mother only if remaining 
in her custody would have presented a greater risk.103 However, the APB failed 
to make reasonable enquiries into the circumstances of the Trevorrow family 
and the infant’s physical state before placing him with foster parents. By 
failing to make these enquiries before removing him, the APB was found to be 
in breach of its duty of care.104 

 
 96 Lampard-Trevorrow (2010) 106 SASR 331 406 [366]–[367] (Doyle CJ, Duggan and White JJ). 
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 103 Ibid 415 [412]. 
 104 Ibid 415 [413]. 
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E  Limitation Period 

As Trevorrow did not bring proceedings within the specified time limit, a 
further issue for the Full Court was to determine whether the discretion to 
extend the period of limitation under s 48 of the Limitation of Actions Act 
1936 (SA) should have been exercised. Under s 48(1), a court may extend the 
time prescribed for a particular cause of action ‘as the justice of the case may 
require.’ Under s 48(3)(b), an extension of time may only be granted where 
facts material to a plaintiff ’s case are not ascertained by him or her within 
time, or the plaintiff ’s failure to institute timely actions resulted from the 
representations or conduct of the defendant. 

Statutory limitation periods applying to claims in negligence and wrongful 
imprisonment may present a substantial obstacle to the success of Stolen 
Generations litigation. In Cubillo (Trial), despite finding that the plaintiff 
established the requisite conditions for a time extension to be granted, the 
Federal Court ultimately considered that there would be overwhelming 
prejudice to the Commonwealth’s case if this discretion were to be exer-
cised.105 In this case, the ‘effluxion of time had so prejudiced the defence of the 
Commonwealth that it could not obtain a fair trial.’106 This conclusion was 
reached even though the Court made positive findings of fact regarding much 
of Cubillo’s claim.107 The insufficiency of documentary evidence and testimo-
ny due to the passing of time was particularly determinative in reaching this 
decision.108  

In contrast, the Court in Lampard-Trevorrow upheld the decision to grant 
an extension of time under s 48(1) of the Limitations of Actions Act 1936 
(SA).109 In considering the discretion to grant an extension, the Court 
considered the High Court’s observation in Sola Optical Australia Pty Ltd v 
Mills that the purpose of exercising such discretion is primarily ‘to eliminate 
the injustice a prospective plaintiff might suffer by reason of the imposition of 
a rigid time limit within which an action was to be commenced.’110 The Court 
was persuaded that any prejudice caused to the State by virtue of the inability 
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of criticised individuals to defend themselves would be outbalanced by the 
injustice that the plaintiff would experience if the claim were to be time-
barred. A significant factor in this reasoning was that, as early as 1977, the 
APB’s successor had information that the APB removed Trevorrow without 
statutory authority. Without the disclosure of this information, the Court 
regarded Trevorrow’s failure to institute his action within the time limit as 
understandable, the APB having contributed to this delay.111 The Court 
further considered it to be in the wider public interest that members of the 
stolen generation are able to have their claims decided by the judiciary and 
stressed the importance of taking judicial notice of this ‘matter of national 
concern and controversy.’112 It was this final consideration that ultimately 
‘tilt[ed] the scales in favour of the discretion being exercised to grant an 
extension of time.’113 

F  Procedural Fairness 

Although the doctrine of procedural fairness had not been identified when 
the APB removed Trevorrow, the Full Court held that it should nevertheless 
be applied to the current case.114 In Kioa v West, Mason J articulated the 
authoritative statement of this doctrine: 

there is a common law duty to act fairly, in the sense of according procedural 
fairness, in the making of administrative decisions which affect rights, interests 
and legitimate expectations, subject only to the clear manifestation of a contra-
ry statutory intention.115 

Trevorrow’s parents possessed a common law right to be heard prior to the 
APB making any adverse findings affecting their son. This right stemmed 
from their status as Trevorrow’s natural parents as well as the significant 
interest they possessed in continuing to maintain custody of him.116 As was 
the case in Annetts v McCann117 and J v Lieschke,118 the Court in Lampard-
Trevorrow considered that the obligation to afford procedural fairness to 
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parents of a child arises not only from their rights and interests as parents, but 
also from their child’s interests.119 In recognising the importance of providing 
a hearing in such circumstances, the Court referred to Brennan J’s statement 
in J v Lieschke that ‘[i]t would offend the deepest human sentiments as well as 
a basic legal principle to permit a court to take a child from its parents 
without hearing the parents’.120 

In the present case, there was neither urgency that required the APB to act 
before contacting Trevorrow’s parents, nor was there substantial difficulty in 
locating them to conduct a hearing. Therefore, although no formal hearing 
was required, the Court found that the APB did not fulfil its obligation to 
notify Trevorrow’s parents of its intended arrangements and failed to provide 
an adequate opportunity for them to respond to the APB’s proposed course of 
action, ultimately denying them their right to procedural fairness.121 

IV  I M P L I C AT IO N S:  T H E  IN T E R P R E TAT IO N  O F  EV I D E N C E  A N D  A  

N E W  R E L AT IO N S H I P  T O  HI S T O RY 

In their book, Rights and Redemption: History, Law and Indigenous People, 
Curthoys, Genovese and Reilly discuss the increasing role of historians as 
experts in Indigenous litigation involving historical wrongs. They point to the 
importance of the disciplines of law and history to talk to one another in these 
cases.122 The expertise of historians was drawn on in each of the Stolen 
Generations cases discussed, but it is only in the Trevorrow cases that a 
contextualised understanding of the historical evidence has had a legal effect. 
Previously, for instance, in Cubillo (Trial) the Federal Court pointed to 
evidence that ‘showed that there were people in the 1940s and 1950s who 
cared for the Aboriginal people’, and who ‘thought they were acting in the 
best interests of the child.’123 It held: 

the evidence does not deny the existence of the stolen generation and there was 
some evidence that some part Aboriginal children were taken into institutions 
against the wishes of their parents. However, I am limited to making findings 
on … the evidence that was presented to this Court in these proceedings; that 
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evidence does not support a finding that there was any policy of removal of part 
Aboriginal children such as that alleged by the applicants: and if, contrary to 
that finding, there was such a policy, the evidence in these proceedings would 
not justify a finding that it was ever implemented as a matter of course in re-
spect of these applicants.124 

The Federal Court’s reading of the legal archive did not result in a finding 
of the non-existence of the Stolen Generations but led it to the evidentiary 
problem of ‘not enough evidence to decide’.125 This problem was compounded 
by the presumption in favour of the State’s own archive — that is, when 
confronted with choosing between evidence produced through the State’s 
documentation of removal, and the testimony of claimants, the courts have 
tended to favour the archive, despite evidence that the State’s archives are 
often flawed.126 Further, the finding of insufficient evidence was not clearly 
justified. For example, van Krieken is critical of the Court using the fact that 
there was no policy to remove all children, and the lack of capacity to fully 
implement the policy, as being grounds for denying the existence of the 
policy. He argues that ‘[t]he mere selective application of a policy does not 
render its existence logically impossible.’127 

The decontextualised reading of the evidence is brought into sharp relief in 
relation to the issue of consent to the child removals in Cubillo (Trial). On this 
issue, the Court construed a thumb print, purportedly that of Gunner’s 
mother, on a document as evidence of parental consent to the removal of her 
son. In referring to consent in his construction of compliance with s 6 of the 
Aboriginals Ordinance 1918 (NT), O’Loughlin J noted that 

there was no way of knowing whether the thumb mark on the ‘Form of Con-
sent’ was [Mr Gunner’s mother’s]; even on the assumption that it was, there was 
no way of knowing whether [she] understood the contents of the document.128 

However, O’Loughlin J gave the government officers the benefit of doubt: 

it is not beyond the realms of imagination to find that it was possible for a dedi-
cated, well-meaning patrol officer to explain to a tribal Aboriginal such as [Mr 
Gunner’s mother] the meaning and effect of the document. I have no mandate 
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to assume that [Mr Gunner’s mother] did not apply her thumb or that she, hav-
ing applied her thumb, did not understand the meaning and effect of the doc-
ument.129 

Therefore, the documentary record was found to prevail. This is surprising 
given that, on its way to finding that the issue of consent did not go ‘to the 
heart’ of the trial,130 the judge made a number of findings regarding the ways 
in which parental consent was used to assist in, and was even produced by, 
removal policies. He rejected submissions made on behalf of the Common-
wealth that some or all of the parents had initiated their children’s removal by 
asking the Native Affairs Branch or Aborigines Inland Mission to provide 
their children with a better education and better standard of living.131 He 
found that evidence did not establish that consent was generally obtained by 
the Native Affairs Branch in the removal of the children at Phillip Creek, of 
whom Mr Gunner was one.132 Although he made no formal finding on the 
matter, O’Loughlin J found that the evidence (including the behaviour of the 
mothers, the evidence of three of the elderly Tennant Creek women who knew 
Gunner as a child and the limited time available to explain the process of 
removal) suggested that ‘some, if not all, of the children may well have been 
taken without their mothers’ consent.’133 In fact, O’Loughlin J was ‘unable to 
make a finding that any of the mothers gave their informed consents to the 
removal of their children’.134 Therefore, he rejected the Commonwealth’s 
argument that consent had been generally given. However, where there was 
documentary evidence of a thumb print he favoured the assumption that 
consent was informed.135 Although the Court demonstrated an appreciation 
of historical context, it was not applied to interpreting legal sources. 

It is significant that the Federal Court examined the operation of consent 
more generally than the circumstances surrounding the particular plaintiffs, 
and demonstrated that ‘consent’ was not an untroubled concept. Justice 
O’Loughlin questioned the nature and quality of consent and the power 
relationship that produced consent by referring to evidence that showed that 
the practices of the Director in obtaining consent included processes of 
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‘educating and preparing mothers’ for separation.136 The implication here, of 
course, is that any final and formal consent can be seen as an end-effect of 
these processes of coercive ‘education’. The judge also questioned whether 
sufficient consent can be deemed to have been given by parents, considering 
the stringent time constraints under which the information was purportedly 
provided.137 

Ultimately, however, O’Loughlin J found that the documents reflected 
Gunner’s mother’s informed consent. He took for granted both that the 
relevant information was given in the correct language and that the effective-
ness of a government education program in relation to removals.138 By 
contrast, in the Trevorrow cases, the South Australian courts expressed a 
distrust of the documentary record relating to consent. They adopted a 
practice of interpretation that considered general practices relating to consent 
(and its documentation) in evaluating the particular document at issue.139 

The principle of consent, particularly in relation to its authenticity, is prob-
lematic; this has been noted by the courts, although these observations had no 
legal effect prior to Trevorrow.140 The courts’ approach to interpreting 
documentary evidence in the Cubillo cases failed to adequately acknowledge 
the power disparity between the APB and Aboriginal persons as well as the 
wider historical and social context in which removals took place. This 
approach also failed to recognise that many Aboriginal parents, including 
Gunner’s mother, were not literate in English141 and were therefore unlikely to 
have understood the content and implications of relevant documentation. 

In contrast, in the Trevorrow cases, the courts demonstrated different views 
of history and the role of state power, issues which are bound up with the 
interpretation of evidence. In determining the issue of consent, the Full Court 
agreed with the trial judge and interpreted the continued requests of Tre-
vorrow’s mother that her son be returned as an indication that the requisite 

 
 136 Ibid 77–8 [218]. 
 137 Ibid 165 [507]. 
 138 Ibid 245 [788]. 
 139 Trevorrow (2007) 98 SASR 136, 327 [918] (Gray J); Lampard-Trevorrow (2010) 106 SASR 33, 
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parental consent was absent.142 The State of South Australia submitted that the 
trial judge was wrong to find that neither parent consented to Bruce Tre-
vorrow’s placement with Mrs Davies, and here it relied mainly on missing 
documentation concerning the removal. The Full Court acknowledged that 
documents were missing, but found that consent had not been given — 
significantly, in doing so, it relied on evidence concerning general practices 
concerning consent, as well as evidence concerning Trevorrow’s particular 
case.143 While the Court in Cubillo referred to similar general practices, its 
finding in relation to Peter Gunner’s mother’s consent was based on the 
documentary evidence alone.144 The significance of the Court’s interpretation 
in Lampard-Trevorrow is that it is an acknowledgement of the importance of 
context in the historical operation and legal interpretation of consent. It is 
significant that the Full Court was willing to look critically at documents 
presented as evidence, and did not interpret the absence of documents as 
necessarily favouring the State’s position. The Court rejected the State’s 
submission that a missing file may have contained the records of the almoner 
testifying to the consensual removal of the plaintiff, arguing, through an 
evaluation of the context of the records, that the time constraints and role of 
the almoner made it unlikely that the records would include a document 
concerning consent.145 Of greater significance was the Court’s questioning of 
the role of documentary evidence. The Court found that this evidence should 
not necessarily be privileged: 

There is no reason why, in principle, the documentary records should be pre-
ferred to the oral evidence. Everything depends upon the facts of the case. In 
the present case it needs to be borne in mind that documentary records are not 
to be assumed to be reliable.146 

This is of great significance in Stolen Generations cases where the archives 
contain gaps, and where those documents that do exist need to be interpreted 
in the context in which they were produced. 

 
 142 Lampard-Trevorrow (2010) 106 SASR 33, 344 [47], 362 [133]–[134] (Doyle CJ, Duggan and 
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The Court in Lampard-Trevorrow took into account historical context 
when interpreting the facts at hand. Based on an analysis of correspondence 
concerning other cases, the Court found that ‘the requirement to obtain 
parental consent was not always observed.’147 The Court based this conclusion 
on a number of documents. A letter dated 12 August 1958 from the Secretary 
of the APB to the officer in charge at the Oodnadatta Police Station stated: 

If the parents of these children have not already consented in writing for the 
United Aborigines Mission to care and control the children until a certain age, 
then I suggest that you endeavour to obtain the consent of the parents on the 
forms enclosed. 

In confidence, you will certainly realise that in any case this consent form is 
not a legal document, and should it be that the parents remove the children 
from the care of the Mission or the Board, no legal action could be taken to re-
gain control of the children.148 

Another document, a letter of 16 October 1958 written by the Secretary of 
the APB to the Superintendent of Aborigines Welfare in Victoria, stated: 
‘Again in confidence, for some years without legal authority, the Board have 
taken charge of many aboriginal children’.149 In a letter dated 19 May 1960 to 
Pastor Eckermann, the Secretary of the APB stated: 

For your information only I have to inform you that legally, I have no right to 
remove a child from its parents. However, in such cases I do so and where 
deemed necessary we refuse to allow the child to be returned to its’ [sic] parents 
without my consent. 

If you so desire you can inform the mother of the child that it has been 
placed in your Children’s Home at my direction and cannot be released to the 
mother without my written consent. You should add that I will not likely con-
sent to the children being released until such time as the mother is properly ac-
commodated and able and willing to care for the child in a proper manner.150 

Here the Court concluded: 

the Secretary of the APB is informing Pastor Eckermann, ‘off the record’ that on 
occasions he has removed and will remove a child from its parents, without pa-
rental consent, and will subsequently refuse to allow the child to be returned  

 
 147 Ibid 360 [126]. 
 148 Ibid. 
 149 Ibid 361 [127]. 
 150 Ibid 361–2 [128]. 
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to the parents, unless satisfied that the proposed living arrangements are  
suitable.151 

According to the Court, the last paragraph of the letter quoted above ‘contem-
plates a bluff being used to enable the APB to keep the child in question under 
its control.’152 

It is in the context of this understanding that the Full Court read a letter 
the APB sent to Trevorrow’s mother Thora Karpany in 1958, which was sent 
in response to her inquiry about Bruce. The letter stated that Bruce was still 
undergoing medical treatment, and the Court found this statement, and the 
implication that Bruce could therefore not be returned to her, ‘dissembling’.153 
Even if Thora Karpany had consented to Bruce Trevorrow being fostered, such 
consent did not legally authorise Bruce’s permanent removal — the Secretary 
of the Board in fact knew of Thora’s entitlement to have Bruce returned to her. 
Here the Court explicitly acknowledged the problematic role of consent in the 
practice of removal, problems that were intimated in Cubillo, but which in 
Lampard-Trevorrow were clearly named as ‘a pretence of power’.154 

Although the Full Court acknowledged the possibility that consent was 
obtained ‘by one of the now unavailable witnesses, and … placed in one of the 
missing files’,155 the Court found that the trial judge’s conclusion of non-
consent was supported by significant evidence.156 First, there was no docu-
mentation of consent in Bruce Trevorrow’s file. Second, there was no reliable 
reference to consent being given in other documents. Third, there was 
evidence that: 

when necessary, in the perceived interests of a child, the APB would place a 
child in an institution or with a foster family without parental consent, using a 
pretence of power (which undoubtedly would have been effective) and, if ap-
propriate, using an element of bluff or deception.157 

This last point is significant since here the Full Court of the South Austral-
ian Supreme Court referred to the general context of practices and policies in 
which consent was given. This was a very different approach to interpretation 

 
 151 Ibid. 
 152 Ibid. 
 153 Ibid 361 [126]. 
 154 Ibid 362 [133]. 
 155 Ibid 362 [132]. 
 156 Ibid 362 [133]. 
 157 Ibid. 



2012] Can the Common Law Adjudicate Historical Suffering? 645 

from that used in Cubillo (Trial), where O’Loughlin J noted the evidence of 
general policies but in making his findings insisted on narrowing his focus to 
the particular circumstances of the applicants.158 In contrast, the Court in 
Lampard-Trevorrow found that, ‘[t]he reliance on medical advice in response 
to Thora Karpany’s letter to the APB of 25 July 1958 is consistent with the use 
of a bluff to deflect her request.’159 

The Court’s response to these technical questions regarding the signifi-
cance and weight of evidence has wide implications regarding the capacity of 
the common law to adjudicate claims relating to the Stolen Generations. The 
Stolen Generations cases challenge the courts to interpret doctrines of tort 
and equity so that they recognise the historical harms arising out of past 
policies and practices.160 This process or conceptual rethinking needs to occur 
in context — as Lampard-Trevorrow demonstrates, it requires interpretive 
practices on the part of the courts that involve a new relationship to evidence, 
history and the significance of contemporary standards. These practices have 
consequences for law’s role in determining responsibility for historical harms. 
Australian critical historiography has been central to the reframing of key 
narratives in law and the public sphere, especially concerning the centrality of 
violence to the formation of the Australian nation-state. These practices, it has 
been argued, reveal that ‘nation-building was inseparable from genocidal 
intent’.161 Genovese positions Australian critical historiography as ‘a concep-
tual “redemption”’,162 a concept that was developed by Curthoys, Genovese 
and Reilly.163 Key to redemption is first, the recognition by the public sphere 
of a different role of the state in regard to past violence and dispossession of 
Indigenous Australians, from that which had previously been accepted; and 
second, commitments by the public to engagement, ‘reparative action and 
acceptance of moral culpability — on questions of accountability for the past 
in the present’.164 

In Cubillo (Trial), following a ‘painstaking examination of a large body of 
historical material and oral testimony’,165 O’Loughlin J asked whether the 
Commonwealth had acted unreasonably or otherwise through the APB and 
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concluded that there was no evidence that it had done so.166 In arriving at this 
decision, the judge rejected evidence that there was social criticism of the 
practice of child removal, instead preferring the evidence of the State’s own 
archive.167 Significantly, community standards were explicitly rejected as a 
source of authority for this finding. Despite establishing that those who 
removed the children would ‘stand condemned on today’s standards,’168 and 
that ‘[s]ubsequent events have shown that they were wrong’,169 the Court held 
these contemporary standards were not relevant to deciding liability, as ‘it 
would be erroneous to hold that a step taken in purported exercise of a 
statutory discretionary power was taken unreasonably … if the unreasonable-
ness appears only from a change in community standards.’170 Ultimately, the 
Court found that there was insufficient evidence to determine a number of 
questions about the removal policies.171 

In contrast, as discussed above, in Lampard-Trevorrow the Court relied on 
evidence adduced at trial concerning research available at the time of removal, 
which they found indicated that removal may be detrimental to a child’s 
wellbeing. This evidence confirmed the risk of harm caused by removal. The 
Court found that the APB knew of the risk of separating a mother and child, 
and that they should have informed their staff of this. Although welfare 
officers at the time may not have foreseen the specific harm caused by 
Trevorrow’s removal, they possessed a general understanding that failure to 
maintain contact with Trevorrow’s natural family might cause him harm. The 
APB had failed to make reasonable enquiries into the circumstances of the 
Trevorrow family and the infant’s physical state before placing him with foster 
parents and was therefore in breach of its duty of care.172 

Further, the trial judge in Trevorrow found that contemporary standards of 
evaluation were relevant to deciding the issue of damages. He noted, as courts 
had in earlier cases, the following: 

The existence of the policy of removing Aboriginal children from their families 
and the detrimental long-term effects of that policy on both those removed and 
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on the wider Aboriginal community, is now widely recognised in the commu-
nity and has previously been the subject of judicial recognition.173 

Justice Gray found that Trevorrow’s case gave rise to an award of exem-
plary damages, based on the initial act of removal, the failure to return 
Trevorrow to his mother, and the State’s failure to inform Trevorrow both of 
the circumstances of his removal and the rights arising from that fact.174 The 
Full Court, in upholding the trial decision to grant Bruce Trevorrow an 
extension of time to bring his claim, held that ‘there is a definite public 
interest in persons like Bruce Trevorrow being able to have their claims 
decided by a court’ and that ‘public interest, in this context, is an interest of 
justice.’175 

V  T H E  ‘M Y T H  O F  CO N SE N T’  

Consent has been a significant issue in Stolen Generations cases, but the 
courts in the Trevorrow cases not only made consent central to their findings 
but also raised questions about the problematic nature of consent itself, 
problems that had been flagged in earlier cases but which had never before 
affected the legal outcome. In the Williams cases, consent was key to whether 
Joy Williams’ removal at birth constituted false imprisonment. Justice Abadee 
emphasised Williams’ mother’s consent to removal at the time of the birth of 
her daughter (although the fact of this consent was contested by Joy) and 
ruled against false imprisonment on that basis.176 The Court stated that there 
was no false imprisonment because the AWB ‘had lawful control over the 
plaintiff ’ due to the consent of her mother.177 In reviewing the case, the Full 
Court adverted to the problematic nature of consent but chose to treat 
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consent as proven by virtue of the documentary evidence of the application. 
The Court held: 

One part of the plaintiff ’s case at trial depended on the proposition that she had 
been removed from her mother without her mother’s consent. It was this which 
underlay the claims of false imprisonment … This part of the case failed be-
cause … the plaintiff was lawfully admitted to the control of the Board on the 
application of her mother …178 

In Cubillo (Trial), consent was not determinative to claims in negligence due 
to the broad scope of the statute granting the AWB powers to remove chil-
dren, but consent was nonetheless argued in defence by the government and 
found to be significant as a factor in determining the proper use of statutory 
power. Finally, in the Trevorrow cases, consent was discussed both in relation 
to negligence and false imprisonment. Consent has been a central issue in 
Stolen Generations cases for two main reasons: first, it formed part of the 
factual archive due to the widespread practice of officials seeking parental 
consent to expedite the process of removal; and second, the State has used 
parental consent to bar actions in trespass or false imprisonment. Therefore, 
the procurement of consent has had a doubly wicked effect because it was 
used to both justify expedient removals and then subsequently put as a legal 
justification to deny compensation on the basis that the mother had given 
away her child. 

In Cubillo (Trial) O’Loughlin J displayed an approach to identifying con-
sent that was less favourable to the plaintiff. As discussed above, he interpret-
ed the evidence in ways that failed to acknowledge the historical operation of 
consent (and the associated creation of documents) in the context of the 
removal of children. The issue of consent to removal was at the heart of the 
Commonwealth’s legal argument against Cubillo and Gunner. Essentially, the 
Commonwealth sought to re-characterise the act of removal as consensual 
and thereby authorised by the parents. In Cubillo’s case, the Court found that 
the issue determining legislative authority to remove her under s 6 of the 
Aboriginals Ordinance 1918 (NT) was not one of consent. Rather, it was 
whether the Director of Native Affairs held the opinion that it was ‘necessary 
or desirable’ to undertake her ‘care, custody or control’.179 Ultimately, the 
Court acknowledged that the Director properly used his authority under the 
legislation. In Peter Gunner’s case, it was found that questions relating to 
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consent were not the ‘correct question[s] to ask’ in legally characterising the 
act of removal — rather, the key question was ‘the reason for his removal’ — 
so that, ‘it would not matter by what persons or by what means that removal 
was effected, if his removal was effected within the terms of ss 6 or 16 of the 
Aboriginals Ordinance.’180 Nonetheless, parental consent was one matter that 
was taken into account in assessing whether the legislation had been properly 
applied. 

In Lampard-Trevorrow, parental non-consent was important to both the 
factual and legal findings. Factually, the court found no consent had been 
given. Legally, non-consent became central to the Court’s interpretation of the 
State’s failure to properly execute its statutory authority and assume control of 
Trevorrow. The Court considered whether s 10 of the 1934 Act conferred 
upon the APB the power to foster Aboriginal children without parental 
consent and, if that right existed, whether it was validly exercised in the 
present case. The State contended that, by virtue of its role under s 10 as ‘the 
legal guardian of every Aboriginal child,’181 the APB was authorised to remove 
Aboriginal children from their parents to protect the children’s interests. The 
Court was persuaded that the purpose of the 1934 Act was to protect Indige-
nous people and provide them with financial and educational assistance.182 
However, in considering Gleeson CJ’s rationale in Plaintiff S157/2000 v 
Commonwealth that ‘courts do not impute to the legislature an intention to 
abrogate or curtail fundamental rights or freedoms unless such an intention is 
clearly manifested by unmistakable and unambiguous language’,183 the Full 
Court concluded that s 10 did not imbue the APB with the lawful authority to 
remove Aboriginal children from their parents without consent.184 Giving s 10 
such a wide interpretation would deprive Aboriginal parents of their right to 
the custody of their children. 

The Full Court found that it was the State’s failure to acknowledge the 
parents’ authority (and therefore the lack of consent to Trevorrow’s removal) 
that led, in part, to the State’s liability. The Court found that s 10 of the 1934 
Act, which provided that the APB was ‘the legal guardian of every Aboriginal 
child’ was ambiguous.185 It found that the legislation did not abrogate funda-
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mental rights in the absence of the manifestation of a clear intention to do 
so.186 Therefore, s 10 did not give the APB the power to foster an Aboriginal 
child without the consent of the child’s parents. This finding of non-consent 
was fundamental: it enabled the Court to convey that the removal was forced 
and provided a basis for finding a breach of law. Therefore, not only was there 
forcible removal, a fact that had been established in earlier cases,187 but this 
removal was legally wrong. 

The National Inquiry into the Separation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Children from Their Families revealed the hollow meaning of 
parental consent in child removal. Consent was a veil for the forced removal 
of Aboriginal children and was uninformed if not coerced. In the Bringing 
Them Home Report, a Tasmanian Stolen Generations survivor described his 
mother’s capacity to consent in the following way: ‘[Mum] could not read or 
write, and obviously would not have understood the implications of what she 
was signing.’188 The Report found that ‘[m]others who had just given birth 
were coerced to relinquish their newborn babies.’189 The Report identified 
that acquiring consent operated to circumvent official proof of neglect. The 
Bringing Them Home Report noted, ‘[i]f parents could be “persuaded” to 
consent to the removal of their children the Board did not have to show that a 
child was neglected or uncontrollable.’190 When Indigenous parents refused to 
consent, the Aboriginal and Welfare Boards overpowered their agency. 
Parents ‘were told they would have to leave the stations and would be denied 
rations.’191 Police officers told young mothers that ‘if they did not consent to 
the adoption of their babies the father of the child would be prosecuted for 
carnal knowledge.’192 Alongside this was an ideological campaign to make 
parents feel guilty that they could not offer them the opportunities of the 
‘outside world’.193 This is despite contemporary evidence and theory that 
children who were not removed performed much better in life than those who 
were removed.194 
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The significance of narratives of consent to the achievement of legal and 
social justice goes beyond the success of any single claim, as important as such 
a claim may be. Writing about the legal context of racial subjugation during 
slavery and its aftermath in the United States of America, Saidiya Hartman 
suggests that there is a relationship between consent and subjection and that 
the use of consent in dealing with the subjected may act to disguise the 
‘condition of violent domination’ that actually operates between subjector and 
subjected.195 Hartman argues that consent became ‘intelligible only as 
submission’.196 In the Australian context, non-‘Whiteness’ has historically 
been a point of reference for structural inferiority in Australia, according to 
Ghassan Hage.197 But the historical impossibility of consent in the context of 
forced subjection is usually not disentangled, explored, or even ‘seen’ by the 
courts. 

In Stolen Generations cases, assumptions that ‘whites’ could better care for 
children underlie the implication of parental complicity in the removal of 
children. These assumptions were taught to and at times appropriated by 
Aboriginal parents, who were then seen as succumbing to the system’s logic. 
As Hartman suggests, power can become defined by these manipulations to 
present a picture of reciprocation, rather than domination.198 It allows the 
state to be presented as a benevolent institution rather than a terrorising one. 
But there is a further sinister side to the domination, which is always revealed 
when manipulations falter. When parents failed to comply with the removal of 
their children, they would attract reprisals from state agents, with conse-
quences that included being reported to police, losing employment or 
experiencing physical violence.199  

Although courts surveyed and sometimes accepted evidence of the prob-
lematic operation of consent in Stolen Generations cases, prior to the Tre-
vorrow cases they essentially treated consent as an individual act freely and 
voluntarily given. The use of consent in this way turned the state’s act of 
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removal into a parental act, thereby transforming ‘relations of violence and 
domination into those of affinity.’200 The fiction of consent suggests that the 
powerless had agency and strength, and that there is an ‘ostensible equality 
between the dominant and the dominated’,201 while at the same time conceal-
ing the actual powerlessness of the subjected. These judicial narratives further 
impute that Indigenous peoples were unwilling to care for their own children 
and reaffirms the fiction that the caring and nurturing of children is the 
domain of ‘whites’, thereby undermining the role of the Indigenous family. 

The nature of the evidence of consent and how consent was acquired have 
been questioned by academics and legal practitioners. Anna Cody, who was a 
solicitor on the Williams case, commented that Joy Williams ‘was taken away 
from her mother when she was a few hours old. Any mother who’s had a baby 
would question exactly how much she could consent to giving a baby away 
when she’s just a few hours old’.202 Chris Cunneen and Julia Grix argue that 
the comment by Abadee J that Williams’ mother may have forgotten whether 
she had consented reveals an ‘extraordinary lack of insight into the issues of 
consent and the power of the AWB over Aboriginal persons.’203 Another issue 
that was raised by the judge to implicate Williams’ mother in the removal was 
that her mother did not attempt to release her from foster care. This presumes 
that she knew that she had this option available to her, had the material means 
to pursue such a course and was sufficiently uncowered by the system to act in 
such a way. It discounts the power of the state over Aboriginal people. Justice 
Abadee stated: 

I further find as a fact that the plaintiff ’s mother at no time between 1942 and 
1960 made application to the AWB or, otherwise sought to have the plaintiff re-
leased from the AWB’s control, or sought her restoration to her care within the 
meaning of … the Act, nor was any discharge of the plaintiff sought at any time 
pursuant to … the Act. … 

[This] is consistent with a view that she did not wish the child’s status or re-
lationship vis-à-vis the Board to change … nor did she wish to have the child 
returned to her care.204 
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In contrast, the Supreme Court of South Australia at trial accepted Bruce 
Trevorrow’s claim of false imprisonment on the basis that there was no 
parental or child consent. The Court held: 

By being placed with [his foster mother], the plaintiff ’s will was completely 
overborne. Given the plaintiff ’s age at the time of the removal, he did not con-
sent; neither did his parents. The plaintiff was imprisoned, and the State, 
through its agents and emanations, caused the imprisonment.205 

The Trevorrow cases challenge the operation of consent in practice by 
demonstrating that consent was frequently quite meaningless and that the 
documentary record concerning consent should not necessarily be trusted. 
However, the framework of liability still relies on consent, with its attendant 
problems regarding agency and good or bad parenting, in determining the 
success of the claim. Because of the nature of removal policies, as well as the 
legal categories under consideration, consent remains as one of the ‘stories 
that … normalised state intervention yet at the same time ignored the 
subjectivity and experience of indigenous peoples altogether.’206 This means 
that claimants must still contend with this myth and may have difficulty 
establishing claims where the documentary record does not demonstrate 
protests or the absence of consent on the part of their parents; or where the 
record demonstrates formal consent, claimants may have difficulty demon-
strating problems with the meaningfulness of such formal consent. The 
presence of such myths is a key reason why the common law may continue to 
be a problematic site for the determination of responsibility for historical 
harms. One great advantage of a reparations scheme would be the provision of 
a new framework and a new language of responsibility, which take account of 
these tangled myths and histories and the law’s own complicity with these. 

VI  C O N C LU SI O N :  F U T U R E  DI R E C T I O N S  I N  ST O L E N  GE N E R AT I O N S  

LI T I G AT IO N 

The Trevorrow cases embody a new judicial reading of history and evidence in 
the Stolen Generations litigation. Although the findings made may open the 
door to compensation in future claims, it must be kept in mind that in many 
ways, Bruce Trevorrow was an ‘ideal plaintiff ’.207 Although Julian Burnside 
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QC (counsel for Bruce Trevorrow) emphasised that the outcome was not 
dependent upon the particular facts of the case, but is of relevance to future 
stolen generation litigation generally,208 a significant factor contributing to the 
success of this particular case lay in counsel’s ability to produce substantial 
evidence regarding Trevorrow’s removal. For many Indigenous claimants, as 
was notably the case in Cubillo and Williams, the establishment of document-
ed evidence often presents a considerable challenge to the courts’ ability to 
determine critical findings of fact in their favour. Cockayne notes that Stolen 
Generations litigation ‘demand[s] the provision of evidence as to the consent 
and intentions of individuals in times now far removed, in cases where 
records are often scant.’209 

Nonetheless, the contextual reading of the legal archive and understand-
ings of general practice were key to the judiciary’s treatment of consent in the 
Trevorrow cases. In previous cases, difficulties stemmed not only from lapses 
in time since the occurrence of the harms, but also from courts’ preference for 
written documentary evidence, which is alien to the oral tradition in Aborigi-
nal cultures.210 The Trevorrow cases may signal a shift away from this onerous 
evidentiary burden and open the door to success for future litigation. The real 
test will be whether courts apply the Trevorrow cases to cases where formal 
consent is present. Would a post-Lampard-Trevorrow Federal Court treat a 
mother’s thumb print as a product of state control, or would it once again take 
it on face value and take Lampard-Trevorrow as an exception to the rule? 
Would a post-Lampard-Trevorrow Supreme Court of New South Wales now 
recognise Joy Williams as a member of the Stolen Generations, notwithstand-
ing her mother’s consent noted in the documentary record?211 If the effect of 
Lampard-Trevorrow in future cases is to acknowledge the difficulties around 
meaningful consent in the context of Stolen Generations removals, this would 
go a long way in providing meaningful legal outcomes for Indigenous 
plaintiffs. Under such an approach, the formal consent of a mother’s thumb 
print would be interpreted in the context of its historical production and 
doubted as evidence of meaningful consent. 

It is yet to be seen whether the more contextualised understanding of the 
removal of children in the Trevorrow cases is of significant precedential value 

 
 208 Julian Burnside, ‘Stolen Generation: Time for a Change’ (2007) 32 Alternative Law Journal 

131, 131. 
 209 James Cockayne, ‘More than Sorry: Constructing a Legal Architecture for Practical 

Reconciliation’ (2001) 23 Sydney Law Review 577, 581. See also Buti, above n 9, 415. 
 210 Cunneen and Grix, above n 4, 27. 
 211 Such recognition was refused in Williams (Trial) (1999) 25 Fam LR 86, 87 [5] (Abadee J). 
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or merely symbolic importance for potential Stolen Generations litigants. 
Either way, the Trevorrow cases present opportunities for new judicial 
narratives on the Stolen Generations, narratives that involve Aboriginal child 
policies being recognised as more than the sum of documentary evidence and 
thumb prints. The common law will be best positioned to adjudicate the 
historical suffering of the Stolen Generations where judicial imaginings fully 
capture the removal of Aboriginal children ‘from their culture, their history 
and their community’ at the hands of a colonising policy.212 Such adjudication 
will provide closure for Stolen Generations litigants and an opening for the 
healing process. 

 
 212 van Krieken, above n 4, 240. 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


